ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County

J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JAN 03 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

CHRISTOPHER PAUL MAHAFFEY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2012-213062

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial court erred in denying appellant's motion to sever drug charges from burglary and petit larceny charges?

2.

Whether the trial court erred in refusing to charge the lesser included offense of burglary in the second degree?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 23, 2012, Christopher Paul Mahaffey was indicted by a Spartanburg County grand jury for first degree burglary, larceny, possession of crack cocaine, and possession of oxycodone. On August 27 – 28, 2012, Mahaffey was tried before the Honorable J. Derham Cole and a jury. R. 1. Jennifer A. J. Jordan represented the State. R. 1. Claire Hall and Clay Allen represented Mahaffey. R. 1. The jury convicted Mahaffey on all four charges. R. 130, ll. 21 – 131, l. 22. Judge Cole sentenced Mahaffey to twenty-five years' imprisonment for the burglary, ten years' imprisonment for larceny, two years' imprisonment for possession of crack cocaine, and two years' imprisonment for possession of oxycodone. R. 135, ll. 12 – 22. Mahaffey timely filed and served a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred in denying appellant's motion to sever drug charges from burglary and petit larceny charges.

Relevant Facts

On the morning of January 14, 2012, Mahaffey was at his father's house for a cookout. R. 92, ll. 5 – 18. A man named “Ronald” arrived at the family cookout. R. 93, ll. 2 – 8. Mahaffey left the cookout at approximately 11:00 AM in his father's sport utility vehicle. R. 93, ll. 5 – 17. Ronald drove. R. 93, ll. 5 – 13.

Andrew Sustare (“Sustare”) was the State's first witness. R. 14, ll. 1 – 4. Sustare and a laborer named Richie Blackwell (“Blackwell”) were at Sustare’s house digging an asparagus patch. R. 16, ll. 2 – 12. When Sustare and Blackwell came around the front of Sustare’s house, Sustare noticed an unknown vehicle in his driveway. R. 17, ll. 17 – 18, l. 14. Sustare and Blackwell moved towards the front of the house. R. 19, ll. 6 – 12. Sustare claimed to see Mahaffey exiting his house. R. 19, ll. 13 – 16. Sustare claimed that Mahaffey's back was to him and Mahaffey was shutting the door. R. 19, ll. 13 – 16.

Sustare and Blackwell forcibly detained Mahaffey and questioned him. R. 19, l. 22 – 21, l. 24. While Blackwell held Mahaffey, Sustare took the keys out of the running vehicle. R. 21, l. 19 – 22, l. 2. Sustare claimed that he went into his house to get his pistol. R. 22, ll. 3 – 6. Sustare claimed that his pistol was not on his bedside table where he usually kept it. R. 22, l. 7 – 24, l. 12. At this point Sustare called 911. R. 23, l. 25 – 24, l. 1.

Sustare retrieved a different pistol from his house and went back outside after completing his 911 call. R. 26, ll. 8 – 24. He then held Mahaffey at gunpoint and made him get on his knees. R. 26, l. 25 – 27, l. 7. Sustare asked Mahaffey, “Where is it?” R. 27, ll. 9 – 10. Mahaffey did not answer. R. 27, ll. 11 – 12. Sustare then claimed he asked again “with more enthusiasm.” R. 27, ll. 13 – 14. Sustare claimed Mahaffey then responded, “Between the front seats.” R. 27, ll. 13 – 18.

Blackwell, who is 6’9” tall and weighs 250 pounds, claimed that while Sustare was in the house, Mahaffey “slipped loose and took off running.” R. 43, ll. 10 – 11. Blackwell claimed that he tackled Mahaffey, held him down, and “dragged him back over to the front of the house.” R. 43, ll. 14 – 17. Blackwell claimed that a money bag that was tucked into Mahaffey’s waist fell to the ground during the fight. R. 43, ll. 14 – 22. Sustare claimed that the money bag belonged to his business. R. 30, ll. 3 – 10.

Canine officer James Rhodes (“Rhodes”) responded to the scene. R. 118, l. 22 – 72, l. 7. Officer Rhodes was told there was a possible second suspect. R. 72, ll. 11 – 14. Officer Rhodes had his dog search for a track in the front yard and the dog did not find a track. R. 72, l. 10 – 73, l. 24. Officer Rhodes admitted on cross-examination that he did not take the dog into the backyard and did not take the dog into the vehicle. R. 76, ll. 13 – 18.

After the police arrived and arrested Mahaffey, one of the officers took an inventory of the SUV. R. 66, ll. 10 – 19. The officer saw what he said “appeared to be drug paraphernalia.” R. 66, ll. 14 – 16. The officer claimed to find a plastic bag “with a white rock substance in it.” R. 68, ll. 12 – 19. The substance later tested positive as crack

cocaine. R. 82, l. 24 – 83, l. 1. The officer also found a bag with “green pills.” R. 68, l. 25 – 69, l. 2. These pills were identified as oxycodone. R. 83, ll. 2 – 5.

Prior to trial, Mahaffey moved to sever the drug charges from the burglary and petty larceny charges. R. 6, l. 17 – 7, l. 4. Mahaffey argued that presenting the drug charges at the same time as the burglary charges would result in unfair prejudice to Mahaffey. R. 6, l. 17 – 7, l. 4. Mahaffey argued that there was no allegation that the drugs were in Sustare’s house or that any drug activity was taking place. R. 9, ll. 4 – 6. Judge Cole denied the motion to sever the charges. R. 9, ll. 18 – 19.

Discussion

The trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to sever the drug charges from the theft charges. “Where the offenses charged in separate indictments are of the same general nature involving connected transactions closely related in kind, place and character, the trial judge has the power, in his discretion, to order the indictments tried together if the defendant’s substantive rights would not be prejudiced.” State v. Smith, 322 S.C. 107, 109, 470 S.E.2d 364, 365 (1996). “A motion for severance is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court.” State v. Spears, 393 S.C. 466, 475, 713 S.E.2d 324, 328 (Ct. App. 2011).

When examining whether charges should be severed, the court must consider whether joinder would result in the “admission of prior bad act evidence that would have otherwise been inadmissible.” State v. Beekman, 405 S.C. 225, 746 S. E. 2d 483 (Ct. App. 2013). The drug charges would have been inadmissible under Rule 404(b). SCRE 404(b). In the context of the theft, the drugs were only offered against the defendant’s character in

an attempt to portray him as a drug user. They showed neither motive, identity, nor common scheme or plan. State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923).

Admission of the drug evidence prejudiced Mahaffey. The temporal proximity of the discovery of the drugs is only a superficial connection to the theft charges. The drugs bore no other connection to the theft charges. No evidence was presented that the defendant used the drugs or was intoxicated. It is also possible that the drugs belonged to Ronald. These possibilities were obscured by the prejudicial smokescreen of their admission in connection with the theft evidence. For these reasons, the trial judge's denial of the motion for severance was an abuse of discretion and Mahaffey's convictions should be reversed and remanded for separate trials.

2.

The trial court erred in refusing to charge the lesser included offense of burglary in the second degree.

Mahaffey requested the lesser included offense charge of second degree burglary. R. 96, ll. 10 – 11. Mahaffey argued that a reasonable doubt existed as to whether Mahaffey was armed with a deadly weapon. R. 96, ll. 13 – 18. When the police searched Mahaffey, he had two pocketknives in his pockets. R. 49, ll. 18 – 22. Mahaffey argued that the pocketknives were common and innocuous. R. 100, ll. 17 – 20. Judge Cole found as a matter of law that a pocket knife “obviously is a deadly weapon” and refused to give the second degree burglary charge. R. 101, l. 8 – 102, l. 20.

“The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial.” State v. Brayboy, 387 S.C. 174, 179, 691 S.E.2d 482, 485 (Ct. App. 2010). “A trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the

evidence” Id. “In determining whether the evidence requires a charge on a lesser included offense, the court views the facts in a light most favorable to the defendant.” Id.

The difference between first and second degree burglaries involving a dwelling concern several aggravators listed in the first degree burglary statute. Compare S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311(A)(1) to (3) with S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-312(A). The relevant aggravator was whether Mahaffey was “armed with a deadly weapon.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311(A)(1)(a). In this case, whether Mahaffey was armed with a deadly weapon meant the difference between first and second degree burglary. The ten-year maximum penalty for second degree burglary is less than the fifteen-year minimum penalty for first degree burglary. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311(B); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-312(C)(1).

First, there was a jury question as to whether Mahaffey was armed with a gun. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Mahaffey, a reasonable jury could have found that Mahaffey never possessed the gun found in the SUV and was not aware of its existence. Sustare, not the police, conducted the “search” of the SUV and claimed he found his pistol inside the center console. R. 28, ll. 9 – 12.

Second, whether the pocketknives found on Mahaffey were “deadly weapons” was also a question for the jury. “Deadly weapon” is not defined in the burglary statute. The trial judge did not define “deadly weapon” for the jury. R. 103, l. 22 – 117, l. 2. “A deadly weapon is generally defined as any article, instrument or substance which is likely to produce death or great bodily harm.” State v. Scurry, 322 S.C. 514, 517, 473 S.E.2d 61, 63 (Ct. App. 1996). “The question of whether an instrument used in the commission of a robbery qualifies as a deadly weapon, thereby qualifying the incident as armed robbery, is a factual determination for the jury.” Id.

The armed robbery statute specifically lists “dirks” and “razors” as deadly weapons, but does not list knives. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-330(A). A “dirk” is a “long straight-bladed dagger.” Webster’s Ninth New Collegiate Dictionary. Including some bladed weapons but not others means that whether a particular knife is a deadly weapon is a question of fact. Any question of fact that increases the penalty for a crime must be determined by a jury. Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490 (2000). The trial judge’s decision to only charge first degree burglary removed this fact from the jury’s consideration.

As Mahaffey argued, a pocketknife is a common tool. He was employed as a laborer in a pallet recycling business in which a pocketknife would be a common object to carry. R. 100, ll. 21 – 23. In Florida, a “common pocketknife” is specifically excepted from the definition of “weapon.” Fla. Stat. § 790.001(13).

In Blanson v. State, 107 S.W.3d 103, 104 (Tx. Ct. App. 2003), the Texas Court of Appeals addressed whether it was error for a judge to charge the jury that a folding pocketknife was a deadly weapon. Blanson held that it was plain error for the judge to charge the jury that a pocketknife was a deadly weapon. Id. at 105-06. Just as in this case, the pocketknife was unopened. Id. Since Mahaffey was entitled to have the jury determine whether a pocketknife was a “deadly weapon,” the trial judge erred in not including second degree burglary in his charge to the jury. His refusal to give the lesser-included offense amounted to a determination that the pocketknives were *per se* deadly weapons. Therefore, this case must be reversed and remanded for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, appellant's convictions should be reversed and this case remanded for separate trials.