ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-213062

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

CHRISTOPHER PAUL MAHAFFEY,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JULIE KATE KEENEY
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

DEC 20 2013

SC Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 20 2013

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

The trial judge did not err in denying Appellant's motion to sever the drug charges from the burglary and larceny charges because the charges were of the same general nature involving connected transactions closely related in kind, place, and character. Regardless, even if the trial judge erred, any error was harmless due to the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

II.

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's request to charge burglary in the second degree because there was no evidence Appellant was guilty only of burglary in the second degree.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 23, 2012, a Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for burglary in the first degree and petit larceny. On June 14, 2012, a Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for possession of cocaine base and possession of oxycodone.

On August 27, 2012, Appellant proceeded to trial before a jury. Claire Hall and Clay Allen represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitor Jennifer Jordan represented the State. On August 28, 2012, the jury convicted Appellant as charged. The Honorable J. Derham Cole sentenced Appellant to the following terms: 1) twenty-five years of imprisonment for the burglary conviction; 2) ten years of imprisonment for the larceny conviction; 3) two years of imprisonment for the possession of cocaine base conviction; and 4) two years of imprisonment for the possession of oxycodone conviction. The sentences were to run concurrently.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 14, 2012, Appellant entered Andrew Sustare's home, without consent, and stole Sustare's gun, money bag, and Blackberry cell phone. (R. p. 16; R. pp. 19-20; R. p. 23; R. pp. 27-28; R. pp. 31-32; R. p. 34; R. pp. 42-43; R. p. 49.) On the day of the burglary, Sustare noticed an unfamiliar Ford Expedition in his driveway. (R. p. 17; R. p. 21.) The vehicle was running. (R. p. 21.) When Sustare and his friend Richie Blackwell approached the home, they saw Appellant exiting Sustare's home. (R. p. 19; R. p. 42.) Thereafter, Blackwell restrained Appellant while Sustare went inside to call the police. (R. pp. 21-22; R. p. 42.) Sustare attempted to retrieve his gun, a .357, from his bedside table, but the gun was missing. (R. pp. 22-23.)

According to Blackwell, Appellant attempted to run away, but Blackwell tackled Appellant. (R. p. 43.) Sustare's money bag fell from Appellant's waist during the struggle. (R. p. 43.) According to Sustare, he kept the money bag in a drawer by his wife's side of the bed. (R. p. 30.)

Although Sustare did not specifically ask Appellant where his gun was located, he asked Appellant, "Where is it[?]" (R. pp. 27-28.) Appellant responded, "Between the front seats." (R. p. 27.) Thereafter, Sustare walked to the Expedition, opened up the console, and saw his gun. (R. p. 28.) Sustare left his gun in the Expedition for the police to process. (R. p. 29.)

When the police arrived, they searched Appellant and found the following items: 1) a pocketknife in each pocket; 2) keys; 3) a lighter; 4) money; and 5) a Blackberry cell phone, which belonged to Sustare. (R. pp. 49-50.) The police ran the tag number of the Expedition and learned that the vehicle belonged to Appellant's father. (R. p. 51.)

According to Officer Bruce Bishop, when he arrived at the scene, he did not see anyone other than Appellant, Sustare, and Blackwell. (R. p. 51.)

At trial, Investigator Brandon Howard testified that he photographed the scene of the crime and collected evidence. (R. pp. 53-54.) He found Sustare's gun in the center console of the Expedition. (R. pp. 55-56.) In addition, Investigator Howard and Deputy Keith Gibbs testified regarding the drugs they found in the Expedition. (R. p. 55; R. pp. 66-68.) According to Deputy Gibbs, when he looked in the driver side door of the Expedition, he saw what appeared to be drug paraphernalia in the cup holders. (R. p. 66.) Deputy Gibbs saw "a pill bottle, and the top they put some aluminum foil and poke holes in the top of it." (R. p. 67.) When Deputy Gibbs lifted up a newspaper article, he saw a clear plastic bag that contained a white rock substance, which tested positive for crack cocaine. (R. p. 68; R. pp. 82-83.) Further, Deputy Gibbs found a Newport cigarette pack that contained green pills, which tested positive for oxycodone. (R. p. 55; R. pp. 68-69; R. p. 83.)

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge did not err in denying Appellant's motion to sever the drug charges from the burglary and larceny charges because the charges were of the same general nature involving connected transactions closely related in kind, place, and character. Regardless, even if the trial judge erred, any error was harmless due to the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

Contrary to Appellant's assertion, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's request to sever the drug charges from the burglary and larceny charges. The charges arose out of a single chain of circumstances, were proved by the same evidence, were of the same general nature, and no real right of the defendant was prejudiced. Regardless, even if the trial judge erred in refusing to sever the charges, any error was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). "[T]he trial court's ruling will not be disturbed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law." State v. Sheldon, 344 S.C. 340, 342, 543 S.E.2d 585, 585-586 (Ct. App. 2001). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's decision lacks evidentiary support or is controlled by an error of law. State v. Lopez, 352 S.C. 373, 378, 574 S.E.2d 210, 212 (Ct. App. 2002).

Discussion

A. The trial judge did not err in refusing to sever the charges.

A defendant has "no inalienable right" to be tried separately for each indicted offense when charged with multiple crimes. McCrary v. State, 249 S.C. 14, 38, 152 S.E.2d 235, 247 (1967). A motion for severance or consolidation is addressed to the

sound discretion of the trial court. State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 164, 478 S.E.2d 260, 265 (1996). The trial judge's ruling on such a motion will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Simmons, 352 S.C. 342, 350, 573 S.E.2d 856, 860 (Ct. App. 2002). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial judge's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. State v. Rice, 368 S.C. 610, 613, 629 S.E.2d 393, 395 (Ct. App. 2006). The exercise of the trial court's discretion must be based upon just and proper consideration of the particular circumstances presented in each case. State v. Castineira, 341 S.C. 619, 624, 535 S.E.2d 449, 452 (Ct. App. 2000).

In Rice, this Court stated the following:

The appellate court considers **several factors** when deciding whether the trial court's consolidation of charges was proper. Where the offenses charged in separate indictments are of the same general nature involving connected transactions closely related in kind, place and character, the trial judge has the power, in his discretion, to order the indictments tried together if the defendant's substantive rights would not be prejudiced.

Rice, 368 S.C. at 614, 629 S.E.2d at 395 (emphasis added) (citing State v. Cutro, 365 S.C. 366, 374, 618 S.E.2d 890, 894 (2005)); see also State v. Carter, 324 S.C. 383, 386, 478 S.E.2d 86, 88 (Ct. App. 1996) ("Joinder is proper if the offenses (1) are of the same general nature or character and spring from the same series of transactions, (2) are committed by the same offender, and (3) require the same or similar proof." (citing City of Greenville v. Chapman, 210 S.C. 157, 41 S.E.2d 865 (1947))); see also Tucker, 324 S.C. at 164, 478 S.E.2d at 265 ("Charges can be joined in the same indictment and tried together where they (1) arise out of a single chain of circumstances, (2) are proved by the

same evidence, (3) are of the same general nature, and (4) no real right of the defendant has been prejudiced.”).

In the case at hand, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in consolidating all of the charges against Appellant for a single trial.

First, the charges arose out of a single chain of circumstances. On January 14, 2012, Appellant entered Sustare’s home, without consent, and stole various items. Before Appellant could escape, he got caught by Sustare and Blackwell. When the police arrived at the scene, the police found drugs in the vehicle Appellant used to perpetrate the burglary. Thus, the possession of the drugs and the burglary/larceny occurred in the same time period and around the same location.

Second, the charges were proved by the same evidence. The State called eight witnesses to testify. Out of those eight witnesses, six of the witnesses would most likely have been necessary in both trials if the charges were severed. The testimony of Sustare and Blackwell would have been necessary in the drug trial because they both had access to the vehicle that contained the drugs, and their testimony would have been necessary in the burglary and larceny trial because they witnessed the crimes. Further, the testimony of Officer Bishop would have been necessary in both trials because he was the first responder. In addition, the testimony of Investigator Howard and Deputy Gibbs would have been necessary in both trials because they are the ones that found the drugs and weapon in the Expedition. Moreover, the testimony of Officer James Rhodes would most likely have been necessary in both trials because he was the one that attempted to search for an additional suspect. Although each charge involved some individual evidence, that fact in of itself did not require the trial judge to sever the charges. See State v. Caldwell, 378

S.C. 268, 278, 662 S.E.2d 474, 479-480 (Ct. App. 2008) (noting that the charges were properly consolidated even though each charged required some individualized evidence).

Third, the charges were of the same general nature. “When offenses are interconnected they are considered to be of the same general nature.” State v. Grace, 350 S.C. 19, 23, 564 S.E.2d 331, 333 (Ct. App. 2002); see also State v. Jones, 325 S.C. 310, 315, 479 S.E.2d 517, 519 (Ct. App. 1996). Thus, our courts have interpreted the same general nature requirement very broadly. Here, the police found the drugs in the vehicle that Appellant used to help perpetrate the burglary. Accordingly, the drug charges and burglary/larceny charges were interconnected.

Finally, no real right of Appellant was prejudiced. The trial judge ensured Appellant did not suffer any prejudice as a result of the consolidated trial by instructing the jury, not once but twice, that there were four separate charges for which the jury was required to reach four separate and distinct verdicts. (See R. p. 11; R. p. 106); see also State v. Harry, 321 S.C. 273, 279, 468 S.E.2d 76, 80 (Ct. App. 1996) (finding no abuse of discretion in the trial judge’s determination the charges should have been jointly tried where “[t]he trial judge went to great lengths to fully instruct the jury that the state had the burden of proving each element of each crime”); see also Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 590, n.1, 518 S.E.2d 265, 267 (1999) (“A jury is presumed to follow instructions.”); State v. Queen, 264 S.C. 515, 521, 216 S.E.2d 182, 185 (1975) (“It is the duty of jurors to take the law from the court in the particular case on trial. It must be presumed that they do so.”).

Accordingly, the trial judge properly consolidated the charges.

B. Even if the trial judge erred, any error was harmless.

Regardless, even if the trial judge erred in refusing to sever the charges, any error was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

With respect to the burglary and larceny charges, the State presented overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. Sustare and Blackwell caught Appellant exiting Sustare's home. Sustare did not know Appellant and did not give Appellant consent to enter his home. Further, Blackwell saw Sustare's money bag fall from Appellant's waist. Additionally, Appellant told Sustare where he could find his gun in the Expedition. Moreover, the police found Sustare's Blackberry cell phone in Appellant's pocket.

With respect to the drug charges, the State presented overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt. Even Appellant's own witness, Appellant's brother, placed Appellant in the Expedition shortly before the burglary. (R. p. 93.) Further, the State presented evidence that Appellant used the Expedition, which had drug paraphernalia in the cup holder, to perpetrate the burglary. Moreover, Appellant's brother testified that Appellant smoked Newport cigarettes, which was the same brand as the cigarette package containing the oxycodone located in the Expedition.

In summary, the State presented overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt for all of the charges. Thus, even if the trial judge erred in consolidating the charges, any error was harmless.

II.

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's request to charge burglary in the second degree because there was no evidence Appellant was guilty only of burglary in the second degree.

All of the evidence presented at trial proved that Appellant was guilty of burglary in the first degree. There was no evidence presented at trial that Appellant was guilty only of burglary in the second degree. Accordingly, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's request to charge burglary in the second degree.

Discussion

The law to be charged is determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. Holland, 385 S.C. 159, 165, 682 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 2009). The trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. State v. Buckner, 341 S.C. 241, 246, 534 S.E.2d 15, 18 (Ct. App. 2000). "It is not error to refuse to charge the lesser-included offense unless there is evidence tending to show the defendant was guilty *only* of the lesser offense." State v. Coleman, 342 S.C. 172, 175, 536 S.E.2d 387, 388 (Ct. App. 2000) (emphasis in the original).

Further, "[n]o instruction should be given by the trial judge, at the request of the appellant, which tenders an issue which is not presented or supported by the evidence." State v. Weaver, 265 S.C. 130, 137, 217 S.E.2d 31, 34 (1975). In other words, a trial judge does not err in refusing to charge a lesser-included offense when there is no evidence that the defendant was guilty only of the lesser-included offense. See State v. Drayton, 293 S.C. 417, 428, 361 S.E.2d 329, 335 (1987).

South Carolina's burglary in the first degree statute provides the following:

(A) A person is guilty of burglary in the first degree if the person enters a dwelling without consent and with intent to commit a crime in the dwelling, and either:

(1) when, in effecting entry or while in the dwelling or in immediate flight, he or another participant in the crime:

(a) is armed with a deadly weapon or explosive; or

(b) causes physical injury to a person who is not a participant in the crime; or

(c) uses or threatens the use of a dangerous instrument; or

(d) displays what is or appears to be a knife, pistol, revolver, rifle, shotgun, machine gun, or other firearm[.]

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311.

Similarly, “[a] person is guilty of burglary in the second degree if the person enters a dwelling without consent and with intent to commit a crime therein.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-312. The difference between the two statutes, with respect to burglaries involving dwellings, is the aggravating factors listed in the burglary in the first degree statute. Compare S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311 (A)(1)-(3) with S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-312.

In State v. McCaskill, this Court held:

[T]o be armed with a deadly weapon within the meaning of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311 (A)(1)(a), a person or “another participant in the crime” need only have physical control over a deadly weapon “in effecting entry or while in the dwelling or in the immediate flight therefrom” such that the weapon is readily available for the person to use.

State v. McCaskill, 321 S.C. 283, 285, 468 S.E.2d 81, 82 (Ct. App. 1996). In other words, for purposes of the burglary in the first degree statute, a person can become armed with a deadly weapon even if the weapon is one taken during the course of the burglary. See id.

In the case at hand, Sustare testified that after he discovered Appellant exiting his home, he went inside to look for his gun. The gun, which was normally kept by his bedside table, was missing. When he came back outside, he asked Appellant, “Where is

it[?]" (R. pp. 27-28.) Appellant responded, "Between the front seats." (R. p. 27.) Thereafter, Sustare walked to Appellant's vehicle, opened up the console, and saw his gun. (R. p. 28.) Sustare left his gun in Appellant's vehicle for the police to process. (R. p. 29.) When the police searched the vehicle, they found Sustare's gun in the console. Thus, based on the evidence and testimony presented during trial, Appellant armed himself with the deadly weapon he found inside Sustare's home when he took it during the burglary and concealed it in his vehicle. Significantly, Appellant's response to Sustare's question demonstrated Appellant's knowledge of the gun.

Appellant argues that "a reasonable jury could have found that [Appellant] never possessed the gun found in the SUV and was not aware of its existence. Sustare, not the police, conducted the 'search' of the SUV and claimed he found the pistol inside the center console." (App. Br. p. 9.) In other words, Appellant's argument is that the jury might have disbelieved the State's evidence regarding the deadly weapon and on the remaining evidence found Appellant guilty of the lesser included offense (i.e. burglary in the second degree). But this Court and our Supreme Court have expressly rejected such an argument. See State v. Funchess, 267 S.C. 427, 229 S.E.2d 331 (1976) (the mere contention that the jury might accept the State's evidence in part and might reject it in part does not entitle a defendant to a charge on a lesser-included offense); State v. Tyndall, 336 S.C. 8, 22, 518 S.E.2d 278, 285 (Ct. App. 1999) ("The possibility that the jury might have disbelieved the State's evidence as to the circumstances of aggravation and on the remaining evidence found the defendant guilty of simple assault and battery does not entitle the defendant to have the lesser offense submitted to the jury.").

Further, even if the jury believed that there was another suspect involved in the burglary who took the gun and placed it in the vehicle, Appellant would still be guilty of

burglary in the first degree. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311 (“A person is guilty of burglary in the first degree if the person enters a dwelling without consent and with intent to commit a crime in the dwelling, and . . . when, in effecting entry or while in the dwelling or in immediate flight, **he or another participant in the crime** . . . is armed with a deadly weapon . . .”) (emphasis added).

Moreover, even if this Court found that the gun was insufficient, the State presented uncontroverted evidence that Appellant was armed with two pocketknives. Although the burglary statute does not define “deadly weapon,” the State submits that a pocketknife is a deadly weapon. See e.g., State v. Heller, 399 S.C. 157, 160, 731 S.E.2d 312, 314 (Ct. App. 2012) (noting that victim was grievously wounded to the point where medical personnel did not expect her to live, and the pathologist opined that the injuries were consistent with the use of a pocketknife).

In summary, there was no evidence that Appellant was guilty only of burglary in the second degree. Appellant was either guilty of burglary in the first degree or nothing. Thus, the trial court properly denied Appellant’s request to charge burglary in the second degree.